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Assessor:  Good morning ladies and gentlemen, and welcome to this, the first hearing in 

respect of the consideration of objections to the Airdrie-Bathgate Railway and Linked 
Improvements Bill. 

 
 My name is Hugh Begg and I am the Assessor to the Parliamentary Committee that is 

considering the Bill and scrutinising its passage through the Parliament.  My function is 
to consider the written and oral evidence submitted at this, the first phase of 
Consideration Stage, and to report to the Bill Committee.  For the avoidance of doubt, 
the Committee may either accept or reject the recommendations contained in my report 
and it can take any such action as it sees fit.  It is then for the Committee to provide its 
own report to the Parliament. 

 
 I am accompanied today by the Clerk to the Committee sitting to my left, and other 

members of the Private Bills Unit of the Parliament sitting further to my left.  They have 
undertaken a very considerable amount of preliminary work in preparation for these 
hearings, and they are here to assist us all in ensuring that the proceedings run 
smoothly today and on subsequent days.  If anyone has a question about administrative 
or procedural matters please address it to them in the first instance.  I know that they will 
be very glad to help. 

 
 I should emphasise that the Bill Committee has a very strong preference for the parties 

to reach a negotiated settlement, thereby removing the need for me to make a 
recommendation and for it subsequently to arbitrate. If, therefore, agreement can be 
reached I would emphasise the need for the Promoter and the objector to commit time 
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and attention to this, particularly before I get to the consideration of that objection.  I 
would like to really underscore that particular point. 

 
 Turning to some domestic matters, if we hear a fire alarm – again – it is not a drill and 

we should leave the room without delay in an orderly fashion, through the door which is 
well signed within the room. 

 
 Can I ask all of those at this stage who have mobile telephones, BlackBerry devices, 

laptops, etc. (apart from my own) to ensure that they are all switched off, and that these 
remain off during the proceedings – not least because they can cause interference with 
our equipment here. 

 
 I am very keen to make good progress throughout the hearing days, including today, so I 

propose to divide each sitting day including this one into two sessions: from 10.00 a.m. 
until about 12.30 or 1.00 p.m., when there will be reasonable time for a break.  We will 
break for about one hour for lunch, and then I would hope to complete the proceedings 
in this room by around 4.30.  Only in exceptional circumstances will we sit later than that.  
I am happy to consider short breaks at appropriate times on request, but in the interests 
of making progress I would like to keep these to a minimum.  Could you please make 
such requests directly to the Clerk. 

 
 All of those appearing at the hearings will have been briefed by the Private Bills Unit on 

the procedures which will be adopted.  Although some of those leading evidence are 
extremely experienced, I know that there are other witnesses where some aspects of the 
procedure is not well-known to them, so for the record I will simply go through a rough 
guide to the proceedings.   

 
 First, the hearing will be based firmly on the principles of natural justice, which are 

commonly described as openness, fairness and impartiality.  Each group of objectors, 
and the Promoter, may call witnesses to give oral evidence.  Such evidence is open to 
cross-examination, and the witnesses may be re-examined if that is required. In such 
examination I should be very much obliged if matters were taken at a measured pace in 
order to assist those providing the transcript of the proceedings – the gentleman with us 
today sitting on my right. 

 
 I have the written evidence before me, and so there is absolutely no need at all to repeat 

anything which is contained therein, unless this is required for answering questions 
directly put. I would also welcome brevity and clarity in both the questions and the 
answers, and I would also ask that the use of ‘technical speak’ if I can put it that way 
(jargon) is kept to the absolute minimum.  I am sure we will deal with some of that in a 
moment or two.  Finally on this matter, can I ask for clear and unambiguous answers.  
This is what the Bill Committee is looking for and accordingly that is what I must attempt 
to achieve.  The use of vague language simply will not be appreciated by the Bill 
Committee, it will simply delay the proceedings, and if you can give me a ‘Yes’ or ‘No’ 
answer that would be really helpful. 

 
 After all the initial evidence has been presented I will invite the Promoter and then the 

Objector group to make closing statements where evidence has been taken.  That 
closing submission at the requirement of the Bill Committee must be restricted to five 
minutes.  I would emphasise that I regard the closing statements as an integral and very 
valuable part of the proceedings.  No new points can be raised in these statements, but 
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it should set out very clearly for the record, and in terms to be readily understood by the 
members of the Bill Committee, just exactly the final position of the parties and how, if at 
all, they recommend that the Bill should be amended. 

 
 Should I request any further evidence this should be sent to the Private Bills Unit within 

one working day, please, of the close of the particular session of the hearings. 
 
 Finally if, as a result of the hearing and the oral evidence heard today, the parties 

consider that they can reach a negotiated settlement, thereby removing the need for the 
Committee to arbitrate on a group of objections, then that is a route which is open to 
each group and to each objector within that group.  Should an objector, or a group of 
objectors, wish to withdraw then I would encourage them to provide that withdrawal in 
writing to the Clerk as soon as possible.  My report to the Committee cannot, and will 
not, be delayed in order for settlements to be negotiated.  I make that point very firmly, 
and I hope it is understood by everybody. 

 
 One final matter, which is in relation to undertakings and commitments made by 

witnesses in evidence.  I have a request from the Committee that I read out a certain 
text.  The Committee has asked me to read out the following statement, which applies 
chiefly to the Promoter, and I read: 

 
 “It is not uncommon for a Promoter to promise, on the record, to do a particular 

thing in response to specific concerns raised in oral evidence, such as how it will 
lessen the environmental impact of the railway at a person’s property. 

 
 Scots law does recognise that a promise may give rise to a legally binding 

obligation which can be enforced by the person to whom or for whose benefit it 
was made.  There does not need to be any agreement between the Promoter 
and the person who will benefit from the promise about the subject matter of the 
promise, nor does the promise need to be expressly communicated to the 
beneficiary – a promise made in front of me for example will be sufficient.  It must 
be reasonably clear, however, precisely what the Promoter is undertaking to do, 
or not to do, and who the beneficiary will be.  It is also important that in giving the 
promised, the Promoter intends to be legally bound.  Put simply, once a promise 
has been validly given, the Promoter simply cannot revoke it. 

 
 Although the Committee can derive some reassurance from a Promoter’s 

promise on the record to do, or not to do, a particular thing, it may consider there 
is a more appropriate way of securing such commitments, such as amending the 
Bill at Consideration Stage.  Indeed, previous Private Bill Committees have 
amended their Bills to ensure that undertakings made by the Promoter in 
evidence before that Committee are carried out.  The Airdrie-Bathgate 
Committee will consider amending the Bill likewise in connection with evidence 
given before me.  I hope that this offers comfort to objectors concerned at the 
Promoter not following through on undertakings or commitments to do certain 
things.” 

 
 That is the text provided for me by the Bill Committee. 
 
 Now, while this meeting is being held in public, it is not a public meeting, and I would 

therefore ask members of the public and those parties directly participating in the 
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proceedings to enter and leave the room quickly and quietly in order not to upset 
anyone.  I understand that the Clerk has spoken to the witnesses about other matters 
such as passing notes and so on, and I would ask for compliance in that regard. 

 
 I do not propose to make these lengthy introductory remarks each day – you will be 

delighted to hear.  However, copies of what I have said will be made available to each 
witness appearing throughout the proceedings.  With these preliminary matters out of 
the way, I can now move to our proceedings. 

 
 Mr Lake, I understand that before we move on to our preliminary session on Noise, Dust, 

Vibration and so on, there is a comment on the Code of Construction Practice?  
 
Mr Lake:  There is, sir, thank you very much.  Sir, during the course of preparation for today’s 

hearing it has been noted that there are two typographical errors in the Code of 
Construction Practice.  Both concern vibration limits and are in paragraph 7.6 of the 
Code of Construction Practice. 

 
Assessor:  Thank you; would you care for the record to indicate what those are? 
 
Mr Lake:  I raise them now simply so that they can be corrected and indicate what is to be 

done. I am obliged.  The first is entirely typographical: in the first bullet point in 
paragraph 7.6, there is reference to a limit that is set in a British Standard.  What it says 
there however is “5 mms-2 ppv” [five millimetres to the power of minus two, that is per 
second per second].  That is not a velocity, that is an acceleration when it should be 
talking about peak particle velocity, and what it should say is ““5 mms-1” [five millimetres 
second to the minus one, or per second].  That is the limit referred to in the British 
Standard, and I would seek merely to have that correction noted now, and it will be 
made in the next version of the Code of Construction Practice. 

 
 The second is slightly more substantive, and the correction I seek to make would impose 

a more stringent requirement on the Promoter.  It concerns the second bullet point in 
that paragraph.  That deals with Vibration Dose Values.  The night time level that is 
stated there is “0.26” on the second line of the bullet point.  That value should be 
dropped to 0.13, that is half the amount.  That means, for the avoidance of any doubt, 
that the limit that the contractors will require to achieve is the lower one.  I simply once 
again be asked that that change be noted now, and it will be reflected in the next version 
of the Code of Construction Practice. 

 
 Because that has been in the Code of Construction Practice at the time the rebuttals 

were prepared, I regret to say that it has been carried into every rebuttal where vibration 
is an issue – that is to say they contain a typographical error and over-state the amount 
of vibration that might be caused. 

 
 However, despite this over-statement none of the objectors’ responses to the Promoter’s 

written evidence have complained about the dose vibration which the Promoter has said 
might be caused, so in my submission there is no prejudice to making this change by the 
Promoter to cause even less vibration. 

 
Mr Cochran:  Thank you, Mr Lake, that is very helpful. 
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Assessor:  Thank  you, that is duly noted.  Perhaps I could turn now to a few questions to the 
panel of witnesses which have been provided for me.  They range across the whole 
approach by the Promoter to noise, dust, vibration and indeed amenity insofar as 
screening may be impacting on that.  I am hoping that the answers to these questions 
will be sufficiently clear and offer specific commitments to the extent that they provide 
the necessary comfort for the many objections which they still seek from the Promoter – 
perhaps not precisely but at least in general terms what is intended now, and indeed at 
the design stage. 

 
 I have noticed a general approach to these matters which is available to me through the 

Promoter’s evidence to a number of objections, and that leads me to an initial concern 
that the Promoter has not taken into account the specifics adequately of every objection 
site.  That may be a problem which has translated itself to individual objectors. If it is a 
misconception and that misconception can be removed, then clearly it would be 
extremely helpful. 

 
 Now – and I address this generally to your Panel, Mr Lake, and leave it to them to pick a 

person who could help me! 
 
Mr Lake:  Indeed, sir. 
 
Assessor:  Thank you.  In the General Overview to noise and vibration, which is provided in the 

evidence, you are committed to consultation with local authorities and mandatory – and I 
underline that – mandatory consultees.  I wonder if someone could help me with what 
further consultations are intended with others, in particular with those objectors who 
have concerns so great that they have maintained their objections right up until this 
hearing? 

 
Mr Wark:  Could I ask, is this in relation to construction noise and vibration or railway noise and 

vibration when the line is complete? 
 
Assessor:  We will take them separately, but let’s start with construction noise and vibration. 
 
Mr Wark:  The approach to construction noise and vibration, as we have stated in the Code of 

Construction Practice, is for the contractors to produce a noise and vibration plan which 
will get approved by the local authority.  It is our intention to consult with the local people 
over this through our community forums, but it is quite difficult to consult with individual 
people over noise and vibration.  The approach to controlling construction noise is 
through the use of best practicable means, and until we arrive at the detailed 
construction methodology it is impossible to assess exactly what noise will be created.  It 
is also quite difficult to agree with individual people around the railway how we can 
control that noise, so there would be a general consultation with local people but we 
would not see us negotiating with individuals over construction noise. 

 
Assessor:  Why is it difficult to consult with them individually?  You have objectors here who if 

their objections were removed would give this Bill an easier passage, as far as I can 
understand it, so why have you not consulted with these individuals? 

 
Mr Wark:  I think we can consult with them, but it is quite difficult to take individual properties 

into account in terms of designing the construction methodology – other than the obvious 
things through best practicable means, that we keep noisy equipment and noisy 
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activities as far away from properties as we can, but the difficulty is if we try and 
negotiate with one particular objector and move noisy equipment away from them, then 
we could be impinging on someone else, so we have to take an overview of all the 
habitation in the area where the line is. 

 
Assessor:  Moving on to your next paragraph within the General Overview then, you say that 

the Promoter has explained the impact of the project on each objector’s property.  You 
may not have negotiated with them but you have actually been in contact with them, is 
that correct? 

 
Mr Wark:  Sorry, could you repeat the question? 
 
Assessor:  Certainly.  You say in paragraph 2 of the General Overview, which is repeated in 

Noise and Vibration, that the Promoter has explained the impact of the project on the 
objector’s property and the mitigating measures that are likely to apply.  So you have 
been in contact with each individual then? 

 
Mr Wark:  We have, yes.  Can I ask, is this in Chapter 2 -? 
 
Assessor:  I am referring to your evidence, which is consistently provided for me time and time 

again, and each time you provide a General Overview paragraph 1 of which says that 
you will consult with the local authorities and other mandatory consultees.  You have 
indicated to me that you do not intend to consult with individuals, you will do that through 
consultation forums. You have explained to me why you think it is impossible to deal 
individually, but in paragraph 2 of that General Overview you say that: 

 
 “The Promoter has explained the impact of the project on the objector’s property 

and the mitigation measures likely to apply.” 
 
 What form did that take?  You sent a letter to them apparently? 
 
Mr Wark:  Yes we did, and I need to differentiate between construction noise, which I was 

talking about earlier, and the long-term noise and vibration. 
 
Assessor:  Are we talking about the design stage when you refer in paragraph 2 in that General 

Overview? 
 
Mr Wark:  The reference you make – yes, we have been in touch with individuals, obviously, 

and we have assessed the impact on individual properties in terms of the railway noise 
that will be created from the completed railway. 

 
Assessor:  Operational? 
 
Mr Wark:  The operational railway, and we will be consulting with individuals in terms of 

mitigation for railway noise from the completed railway.  Construction noise is more 
difficult to consult with individuals about because individual mitigation is more difficult. 

 
Ms McKell:  Could I just say something? 
 
Assessor:  Yes, Ms McKell, do go on. 
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Ms McKell:  Can I add to that about noise and construction noise?  The Code of Construction 
Practice makes reference to BS5228, which is the British Standard to follow for guidance 
on noise from construction sites, and it makes quite clear the advice it gives in relation to 
liaising with the community in relation to construction noise, which is through liaison 
groups.  The Code of Practice and Network Rail’s own guidelines make clear that this is 
what would happen. 

 
Assessor:  Sorry to interrupt, but notwithstanding the fact that each one of these objectors, and 

they are numerous but are not a multitude, have concerns, they are bringing them to this 
Inquiry, and you still prefer to do it through a consultant forum? 

 
Ms McKell:  It is following advice in BS5228 for construction noise, because at this stage in the 

process it is not possible to predict what the impact will be on each individual property, 
so it really would be misrepresentative at this stage to talk to each individual property 
owner or occupier about the impact of construction noise when that detail is not yet 
known. 

 
Assessor:  Can I pursue this just a little further then?  You will have committed to a monitoring 

regime to deal with construction noise? 
 
Ms McKell:  Yes. 
 
Assessor:  I would like to hear a little bit more about that, since that might be the route in by 

which we could give some comfort to these objectors.  What form will the 
instrumentation take to monitor the noise and/or vibration at construction stage? 

 
Mr Wark:  I can’t give you technical details of the type of equipment that will be used for it, but it 

will be standard recognised equipment and a standard methodology for measuring noise 
and vibration. 

 
Assessor:  And this is not unusual? 
 
Mr Wark:  No. 
 
Assessor:  The objectors for instance could take comfort from that, that it is used elsewhere in 

general? 
 
Mr Wark:  Correct. 
 
Assessor:  I am obliged.  Will the results of that monitoring be made available, first of all to the 

general public and secondly to the individual objectors who clearly have particular 
concerns here? 

 
Mr Wark:  Yes, we made reference in the Code of Construction Practice that we would publish 

the information on the website, and it will be made available in our information offices 
that we will have and through community forums, where it will be discussed. 

 
Assessor:  Thank you very much.  Now, the next step in the procedure: how could a 

householder in particular but any other person, a corporate body for instance, make a 
complaint that in their view trigger levels have been exceeded? 
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Mr Wark:  They can complain directly to Network Rail who will be project-managing the project, 
or they could complain to their local authority and through the local authority they would 
get in touch with us in the project, and of course the local authority will have enforcement 
powers. 

 
Assessor:  And have the objectors been made aware of this, and will there be a step-by-step 

lay guide provided for each one of these objectors to indicate to them how they could or 
should react if the trigger levels are exceeded? 

 
Mr Wark:  It is our intention to make that clear in the Code of Construction Practice. 
 
Assessor:  Will you commit to that today, to provide to each one of these objectors a step-by-

step indication of how they can deal with the problem if the trigger levels are exceeded?  
There are not that many objectors, we are not talking a multitude here, we are talking 
some. 

 
Mr Wark:  Yes.  I don’t see any problem in giving that step-by-step guide to the objectors. 
 
Assessor:  Thank you, Mr Wark.  Now, how could the individual objector, going through this 

step-by-step guide, be sure that the unacceptable noise, as they consider it, would 
cease, or vibration would cease without delay? 

 
Mr Wark:  We have given a commitment in the Code of Construction Practice that where we 

establish that we have gone beyond our agreed limits, then we will cease operations 
until we get the noise or vibration under control, and of course the local authority will 
have enforcement powers in that regard. 

 
Assessor:  Thank you.  [Confers]  I am going to come back to this point about plain English 

again.  Mr Lake has helped me already this morning, but could we be certain that that 
step-by-step guide provided to each one of the householders in particular, but I think you 
had better extend it to objectors, would be in plain English? 

 
Mr Wark:  I think we can give that commitment, yes. 
 
Assessor:  This is to distinguish that before we accelerate into other matters!  Thanks very 

much.  That is very helpful indeed.  Ms McKell has helped me in the terms of the general 
overview which deals not only with construction but also with the operational matters. 
You do make reference in paragraph 3 to “continuing commitment to consultation”.  
Unfortunately I make a personal statement here: “consultation” seems to be a word 
which has become degraded to a certain extent, and I would like to be clear just exactly 
what “consultation” means.  Without leading you could I try this: can I take it that your 
commitment extends to engagement in terms of consultation, in other words listening, 
learning and taking active steps as far as is reasonably practical and appropriate to deal 
with the concerns that are raised, without delay?  In other words I and the Committee 
should not assume that “consultation” simply means “informing”? 

 
Mr Wark:  I would accept your definition of “consultation”. 
 
Assessor:  I am obliged to you that the Promoter is committing to engage, to listen, to learn and 

take appropriate steps as far as is appropriate and reasonable practical. 
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Mr Wark: I would accept what you say, yes, in general terms. 
 
Assessor:  Without putting it in legal jargon. 
 
Mr Wark:  There are clearly some areas where it is easy to reach agreement, to try and take on 

board what individual concerns are and deal with them, but in the wider context that can 
sometimes be more difficult, but couched in terms of ‘We will do what is reasonably 
practical’ then that is correct. 

 
Assessor:  Consultation can never be complete can it, engagement can never be complete, 

and you are going a long way down that road.   
 
Mr Wark:  Yes. 
 
Assessor:  I am obliged to you.  Again returning to construction noise now, there is a reference 

in there to “communication with affected persons”. I have a similar probe: can the 
Promoter accept that communication and the passage of relevant information is a two-
way process, that your commitment to communication I take it is not simply to let people 
know what is going to happen?  You are making a commitment to listen to what persons 
affected, or persons who think they will be affected, will have to say?  Is that correct – 
your communication strategy is not a one-way passage in other words? 

 
Mr Wark:  It is more difficult with construction noise than it is with railway noise. Our approach 

to this is we will produce noise and vibration plans and we will pass these to the local 
authority to be approved.  It is quite difficult to, if you like, negotiate with individual 
property owners over construction noise. 

 
Assessor:  I am not suggesting that the communication go as far as engagement or negotiation 

at this stage, but merely I am seeking to establish in terms of this language which is 
being used that communication is simply not a one-way passage, but the objectors could 
take some comfort to the fact that you are committing to listen to what they have to say 
and to give it due consideration, as a part of your communication strategy? 

 
Mr Wark:  I agree with that, yes. 
 
Assessor:  Thank you very much.  I have a similar series of questions, I am afraid, about 

construction vibration.  I separated them out from noise simply to make sure that we 
cover all the points.  There is a statement within the evidence repeatedly made by the 
Promoter that: 

 
 “To ensure that vibration levels are not exceeded there will be a programme of 

on-site monitoring which will focus on sites where it is predicted that levels could 
be exceeded.” 

 
 Now once again could I just for completeness go through the same series of questions?  

What instrumentation will be used?  Is this a quite normal procedure? 
 
Mr Wark:  Yes, it would be normal instrumentation, but at this stage in the process we have not 

decided exactly what that will be. 
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Assessor:  Again, just for clarification, will the results be made public in the same way as the 
construction noise? 

 
Mr Wark:   Correct, they will, yes. 
 
Assessor:  How about the householder who feels that the trigger levels have been exceeded? 
 
Mr Wark:  If a householder feels that a trigger level has been exceeded then they can complain, 

in the same process as we discussed earlier, and particularly where there is 
instrumentation that can prove that we have exceeded that, then if it is construction 
vibration then operations would cease until we established the cause of the excessive 
vibration. 

 
Assessor:  Just for the avoidance of doubt, it would be a 24/7 arrangement but there would be 

a person at the other end of the phone during working hours, is that correct? 
 
Mr Wark:  That is correct, yes. 
 
Assessor:  I am obliged.  Now, again, is there any reason why the instrumentation could not be 

placed at or very near the properties of objectors who have concerns that vibration will 
be exceeded?  This is in fact an integral part of their objection. 

 
Mr Wark:  We have committed to putting instrumentation at properties which we assess as 

being at risk from vibration damage, and that is the approach we have decided to take in 
this case – and that might not necessarily be the people who have objected.  
[Intervention from Mr Irwin]   

 
Assessor:   Sorry Mr Irwin, thank you very much, Mr Wark, that is all very helpful. 
 
Mr Irwin:  The limits that we have set are way below what would cause vibration damage, it is 

more human perception/annoyance level, so probably the instrumentation would be 
placed maybe on a hard point close to the properties.  It is more for human perception 
than anticipated damage. 

 
Assessor:  Mr Irwin, I have had considerable difficulty as a lay person dealing with the 

evidence that has been put before me, and let me try this on you and see if as a lay 
person I am getting anywhere with vibration.  Can I identify four levels: first is zero, 
nothing, you can’t feel a thing; secondly, I can feel a tremor; thirdly, I get cracks in my 
ceiling; and fourthly, I get structural damage to my house.  Is that fair? 

 
Mr Irwin:  Yes. 
 
Assessor:  Thank you; which level are you at when you put in your monitoring device? 
 
Mr Irwin:  We hope to be at the ‘feeling a small tremor’.  I could give you values for the various 

aspects you mentioned, if you wish? 
 
Assessor:  I think that is adequate for my purposes as a lay person; so we are at that very low 

level?  That is what I am trying to get your commitment to, to where you are on the 
spectrum. 
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Mr Irwin:  The maximum permitted vibration is less than 50 per cent of what might cause a very 
small hair crack in brittle plaster. 

 
Assessor:  Thank you very much; that is Level 3, isn’t it, by my standards? 
 
Mr Irwin:  Yes. 
 
Assessor:  So you are above zero but you are into this small tremor area; and you are saying 

then that you will put monitoring devices where you predict these tremors might occur – 
the general vicinity of properties where these tremors might occur? Is that fair? 

 
Mr Irwin:  Yes; where a property is close to the operations then probably a digital seismograph 

set would be set up there to measure the vibration.  Often the vibration from activities 
within the dwelling, say automatic washing machines, etc., would actually cause bigger 
vibration, but people perceive that from external sources as more dangerous. 

 
Assessor:  Yes, and more of an interruption and a disturbance.  That is fine.  Is cost a problem 

in doing it to more properties than you have predicted, because clearly the objectors are 
not accepting your predictions?  They have anxieties about this.  Is there any way we 
can remove those anxieties? 

 
Mr Irwin:  I am not sure exactly what the rates of the contractors would be for doing monitoring, 

but you can obtain digital seismograph sets which take multiple geophones, so you 
could have one set monitoring more than one building. 

 
Assessor:  We are coming close to where I can ask you for a commitment, then.  Would the 

Promoter be able to make a commitment that where there was an objector or a group of 
objectors within close proximity to one another, that you would go beyond where your 
predictions say vibration levels would be exceeded, that you would go to those houses 
where, if you like the objectors in their lay way are predicting that vibration trigger levels 
may be exceeded, or they fear that they might be? 

 
Mr Irwin:  What I have done in the past is at the initiation of particular aspects of the work, I 

have taken maybe a couple of the digital seismograph sets and then moved them from 
property to property in order to map out the contours of vibration, and then allayed the 
fears of the householders about that where that was relevant; or to recommend the 
installation of more digital seismographs. 

 
Assessor:  What defeats me at the moment is why that hasn’t been done already in such a way 

that these fears could have been allayed by now? 
 
Mr Wark:  At this stage we could not give a commitment to put in monitoring equipment to every 

objector’s property. What we could do is take that away and come back to you.  I am not 
clear as to what the implications of that would be, so I would be unable to give that 
commitment right now, but we would certainly like to go away and come back to you 
later on with a response to that. 

 
Assessor:  That is very helpful, Mr Wark.  Mr Irwin? 
 
Mr Irwin:  In my original submission I had charts of vibration with distance from railway lines 

that are extremely similar to this in different soil conditions, and they show that the 
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vibration at no place I have measured is higher than what we have given as our 
commitment. 

 
Assessor:  I have your evidence in front of me but what I am concerned with is removing, if at 

all possible, the problems of objectors, and making sure that they have some comfort, 
but clearly they have not been able to understand your evidence. 

 
Mr Irwin:  Yes! 
 
Assessor:  I am seeking ways of dealing with this which would be not overly onerous on the 

Promoter but would also deal with the legitimate concerns of those who are going to be 
in close proximity to your railway line.  

 
Mr Irwin:  You know, I have measurements for the various places along the existing lines. 
 
Assessor:  [Confers]  Thank you Mr Irwin, I am sorry to interrupt you.  I was taking advice. 
 
Mr Irwin:  I have these various studies, etc. along the existing lines where there isn’t a railway 

and there is no construction.  All we could do was take ambient vibration magnitudes 
which would not really, I don’t think, pacify a householder who is going to compare this 
with something from construction, for example. 

 
Assessor:  I think you have possibly gone as far as you are able to do. There will be 

instrumentation there, there will be a method of indicating when the vibration has 
occurred, there will be a process available to the objector to encourage the ceasing of 
the operation if things are getting beyond the trigger levels for an unsatisfactory period – 
and they are bound to be exceeded on occasion, is that not correct?  I mean, that is the 
way construction works. 

 
Mr Wark:  It is possible.  It is possible. 
 
Assessor:  Yes; but what the householders are clearly concerned about is a continuous 

process going on for a period of months.  The works may well be temporary but they are 
going to go on for a period of months.  I think if I am correct that is about as far as I can 
invite you to go.  [Confers] 

 
 As you know I have to report to the Bill Committee.  The Bill Committee are lay people, 

and I think there is still some concern about a couple of matters, and I would like to go 
over them again.   

 
 It may be to you, Mr Wark, I am not sure; why is it so very difficult to communicate with 

people individually?  I have accepted from Ms McKell that you are using the British 
Standard and that suggests that might be the way forward.  That is the British Standard, 
it is the minimum perhaps that you are required to do. Why not go the extra mile?  What 
is so difficult about communicating with people individually about noise and vibration? 

 
Mr Wark:  We will communicate with people individually as far as the railway noise from the 

completed works is concerned, because we have to design in suitable mitigation and we 
will take into account the views of the individual people.  I go back to what I said earlier: 
construction noise and vibration is more difficult.  We don’t know what it is at this stage, 
and it is quite difficult to predict, although we commit to trying to predict that in our plans, 
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and we will consult with people.  Let me be clear, we will speak to people individually, 
but going back to your definition of “consultation” it can be quite difficult to take on board 
individuals’ concerns without upsetting someone else. 

 
Assessor:  Again I am being invited to probe with you, Mr Irwin. You gave me the washing 

machine example, and I found that quite useful actually; but why could this type of 
information not have been provided to the objectors in evidence?  Your evidence is not 
only to the Bill Committee, it is also to the objectors.  With respect I think some of the 
evidence was impenetrable. 

 
Mr Irwin:  I can supply whatever evidence they want. 
 
Assessor:  I am asking why it has not been provided already, to provide the Bill Committee and 

me with the opportunity of dealing with this objection.  The Bill Committee has 
emphasised that they do not wish to arbitrate, they wish you to reach a negotiated 
settlement with the objectors, but if objectors do not understand what they are 
negotiating about then it seems to me not an unsurprising approach for them to take, 
that they would maintain their objection. 

 
Mr Irwin:  My aim in putting forward these magnitudes is these are magnitudes that I would be 

happy if my own house was subjected to during construction processes or the operation 
of the rail line. 

 
Assessor:  But you are an expert Mr Irwin. I am asking you a question.  Why is it not possible 

for you to communicate, even at this late stage, with these objectors – say to them 
‘Look, this is what it is going to be like, it is going to be like that [Drumming fingers] or it 
is going to be a crack in your ceiling, but for goodness sake your house is not going to 
fall down’? 

 
Mr Wark:  Is your point that we have been too technical in our response? 
 
Assessor:  I have been trying to make that point, but if I am not clear I want to apologise right 

now.  Yes! 
 
Mr Irwin:  Well, I would say that why I have split it into two different criteria is that we have a 

dose value which means that over the period the vibration on average would be very, 
very low – either below or just above perception levels; but if for a short period there was 
higher vibration we are limited to something that is less than 50 per cent of what would 
even cause hairline cracks in the property.  It would initiate things like rattling of crystal 
glasses that are close together, and possibly in conjunction with low frequency noise it 
might cause rattling of windowpanes.  I don’t mean like in a gale force storm, I mean 
such as might occur when somebody walks past a window on a wooden floor in a 
timber-framed building, you occasionally get a little flutter of the window glass.  It is low 
magnitude stuff we are talking about. 

 
Assessor:  These objectors are for the most part in conventionally-built houses, aren’t they? 
 
Mr Irwin:  Yes. 
 
Assessor:  And could that not have been explained to them, ‘If you have a china ornament, that 

ornament is not going to fall off your mantelpiece’?  I don’t want to push this too far, but 
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you can understand the point very clearly that I am trying to make.  The evidence that 
has been presented to me and to the Bill Committee and to the objectors is in a technical 
form, and it does not surprise me that they have maintained their objections.  This is no 
criticism of your professionalism, Mr Wark, please do not misunderstand me in any way, 
I am merely saying that this is a matter of communication, engagement – whatever – 
and there is still time for these objectors to be approached. 

 
Mr Irwin:  What I have always thought is that when you get somebody like a quarry operator or 

some industrial process like a drop forger that is going to be erected close to buildings, 
or a quarry sifter, something that causes a lot of vibration, the Promoters always come 
up with this conundrum that when you slam a door in the property you get five times as 
much vibration – but that is the property owner himself who decides to slam his door, it is 
not somebody from outside who decides to shake his property.  Therefore I did not draw 
that comparison because I always think it is a smokescreen, so I preferred to put forward 
what this technical evidence was rather than some anomaly or simile that could permit 
the Promoter to have a much higher vibration than is realistic. 

 
Assessor:  We certainly wouldn’t want that, would we, Mr Irwin?  Thank you for that. 
 
Mr Irwin:  We are vibrating the house from its foundations up, which is totally different from 

vibrating the house from within the house, so we have set these values at really low 
values.  In the first phase of construction people would say ‘Yes, I feel that vibration’, but 
after a while they would be confident that this vibration is not going to cause any damage 
to the property.  During the operational phase of the railway it should be, in my 
experience, that they would come to ignore the passage of the trains completely. 

 
Assessor:  I can understand that. 
 
Mr Irwin:  We have also got this rail isolation in place for the operational phase.  That means – 
 
Assessor:  I will come to that in a minute. I was trying to separate it out from construction noise 

and vibration, and I was going to come on to operational in a minute, if that would be all 
right. 

 
Mr Irwin:  Basically our aim is to be so low that it is not going to cause any problems with the 

building and even somebody, say a nurse on night shift trying to sleep during the day, is 
not going to be disturbed by it. 

 
Assessor:  I am much obliged to you, that is very helpful. I think the general passage of where I 

am going and where you are going is clear, and I don’t think we need take this any 
further – unless you want to say something more, Mr Wark?  [No]  Thank you. 

 
 I would like to go on to another passage if I may, that would be noise and vibration as 

the main impact as a result of the operation of the railway if it goes ahead.  It is stated in 
the written evidence that: 

 
 “it may be possible to reduce noise at source by design of the track”, 
 
 and I understand that.  Now, this on the other hand seems to be quite non-committal.  I 

wondered whether it would be possible to have wording along the following lines, and it 
will give you a hint as to how I am trying to approach this.  I suggest this wording: 
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 “It is possible through design and construction methods to mitigate track noise.  

The Promoter commits to fully investigating whether such methods are suitable 
at this specific site” - that is to say it refers to each objection – “and if so, to then 
providing such track noise mitigation methods as may be reasonable and 
appropriate.” 

 
 That represents a commitment rather than “it may be possible”.  Is there any objection to 

that type of wording, or that flavour if you like, emerging from the Promoter? 
 
Mr Wark:  Is that in the context of each individual objector, so we would be committing to each 

individual objector? 
 
Assessor:  Good point; as my form of words was set out then yes, it does.  Mr Lake? 
 
Mr Lake:  I am sorry to intervene, but I hope I might provide some assistance to resolving this.  

The question of whether or not a commitment is given in sufficiently precise terms 
regarding track design, in the Noise and Vibration Policy which deals with the 
operational noise the commitment is that the Promoter will adopt all reasonably practical 
and acceptable measures which the Promoter considers necessary to reduce noise at 
source by design of the track.  So there is presently a commitment in relation to the 
mitigation hierarchy, that the Promoter will adopt reasonably practical measures. 

 
Assessor:  [Confers]  Without being too difficult about this, that was not the evidence which 

went to the objectors, and it would have been helpful.  I doubt very much whether they 
had read the second draft of the Code of Construction Practice – so that is entirely 
acceptable, Mr Lake, so we have that commitment to the Bill Committee.  I am obliged to 
you. 

 
 [Confers] I am trying to fit this together – and this is for the benefit of the objectors: does 

this mean that whenever the Promoter can design-out noise below the level set, it is 
going to do so?  Is that the commitment that has been made, Mr Lake? 

 
Mr Lake:  Sorry, I was doing two things at once! 
 
Assessor:  Multi-tasking!   
 
Mr Lake:  I don’t want there to be any doubt that what I read was part of the Noise and Vibration 

Policy, and that therefore is part of the hierarchy of mitigation, and the hierarchy of 
mitigation is engaged whenever there is a noise impact that is moderate or worse.  That 
is why whenever that is the case this would introduce the binding commitment to do all 
reasonably practical in design of the track to reduce it, so it is specific to those properties 
where there is a predicted noise impact. 

 
Assessor:  I am very much obliged.  The answer to my question, even though it was perhaps 

not well put, is “Yes”!  Thank you very much, Mr Lake, that is very helpful.  We are glad 
to have you. 

 
 Now, I know that the Committee Convenor has written to the Promoter seeking further 

examples of how noise and vibration might be designed-out, and that is an example.  
Could you indicate to me how this could be done? 
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Mr Lake:  I think I would leave that to the witnesses. 
 
Mr Wark:  We have made some enhancements to the Noise and Vibration Policy, and we are 

about to make some further enhancements.  Do you want me to quote from the policy or 
are you happy just for me to comment? 

 
Assessor:  I think it would be useful from the Committee’s point of view.  I am correct that the 

Bill Convenor has written to you and he is looking for some examples? 
 
Mr Wark:  That’s right. 
 
Assessor:  This would be an opportunity to place on the record what some of those examples 

were, and enable those reading the proceedings to take some comfort from them. 
 
Mr Wark:  Could I just ask for a second, just to make sure I have the right section? 
 
Assessor:  Of course, take your time, there is no rush today. 
 
Mr Wark:  [Pause]  Okay; as far as noise is concerned what we have said at the moment is that: 
 
 “Ways that this may be done could include track alignment, for example, keeping 

track level as low as reasonably practical, subject to other constraints, so as to 
make best use of natural screening of adjacent grass verges.” 

 
 Then secondly: 
 
 “Materials used, for example, correct standard of rubber rail pads and minimising 

on-site rail welds and joints.” 
 
 Third bullet: 
 
 Appropriate ballast depth and compaction.” 
 
 Fourth bullet: 
 
 “Cant of the track, for example, correctly designed curves/cant can reduce risk of 

wheel squeal”, 
 
 and that is subject to various other design constraints.  I should add that we are going to 

make some additional comments here about some of the proprietary devices that are 
available now which can be affixed to the side of rails to attenuate noise.  We will have 
to couch that comment in terms of “subject to approval” because many of these devices 
are not approved for use in Network Rail’s infrastructure yet, but we will make reference 
to those and we are looking to use those in the appropriate locations. 

 
Assessor:  I think the Convenor’s letter was written after that paragraph which you have just 

quoted to me from the Code of Construction Practice.  You gave me some additional 
information there, but are you able to give me anything more at this stage for the benefit 
of the Convenor? 
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Mr Wark:  I think the principal addition we are going to make is, as I have just stated, the  
various proprietary devices that are available. 

 
Mr Lake:  Thank you, I think that covers the issues. 
 
Assessor:  Now, should the track design not reduce the noise levels, I take it from your 

previous answers that the Promoter would enter into a communication/engagement/ 
dialogue process with local residents to seek to lessen the impact, and that one of the 
methods would be screening, and that the screening (if I am right) would be through 
noise barriers, fencing and planting.  Is that a fair comment? 

 
Mr Wark:  Could I ask Bernadette to comment? 
 
Ms McKell:  The most effective means of controlling noise is generally to try and control it at 

source.  Where that fails to get it down to the level that you are trying to achieve, then it 
is by trying to break the path that the sound will take between the source and the 
receiver, so that would be by some form of acoustic barrier.  Landscape screening will 
do nothing for noise; it will not act as an effective noise barrier, but it does sometimes 
help to soften the impact – their perception. 

 
Assessor:  So you mean persons just don’t feel it is as bad as it might have been – their 

perception, I am obliged. 
 
Ms McKell:  Perception, yes, it softens it aesthetically.  I have often come across situations 

where people feel that having a bank of trees or a shrubbery has reduced the noise 
when in fact it hasn’t, but there is a strong perception that it has. 

 
Assessor:  Perhaps we can come back to a bit of landscaping in a moment - and again it must 

be clear to you why I am pressing these matters – can I take it the Promoter is 
undertaking in every case – every case – meaningful consultation and engagement with 
the affected parties about these matters? 

 
Ms McKell:  I have met with some of the objectors and discussed their concerns about 

mitigation, and have explained to them that at this stage, the stage when the 
Environmental Statement was prepared, we do not have the final detailed design so we 
cannot finalise any mitigation measures.  We still have to look at maximising the 
reduction at source, and any slight shift in the horizontal alignment of the track would 
affect any reduction from the barrier. Some residents have expressed a preference for 
increased bunding at the site rather than any kind of timber or other means of fence, and 
we have said that will be discussed with them fully at the detailed design stage. 

 
Assessor:  The explanation of what you have done is very clear, and I understand that, but the 

Promoter is currently making a commitment that for each one of these objectors that 
process of discussion will continue? 

 
Ms McKell:  Yes. 
 
Assessor:  I am obliged.  Can you help me, how do noise barriers actually reduce noise levels?  

I understand the planting side of things, but could you just help me in lay terms about 
how noise barriers help in this regard? 
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Ms McKell:  Very simplistically, the noise barrier works by changing how the sound travels from 
the source to the receiver, so it changes the direction the sound wave takes as it travels 
over the barrier creating, if you like, a shadow zone in an area close to the receptor. 

 
Assessor:  So taking an objector’s house, they would be in the shadow and the noise would 

somehow be deflected up would it? 
 
Ms McKell:  Yes, in very simplistic terms. 
 
Assessor:  That helps me a lot. 
 
Ms McKell:  And it is important in the calculations to make sure that the receptor is actually in 

the shadow zone and not in what is called the eliminator zone. 
 
Assessor:  Yes. Do the sound waves continue upwards or are they deflected back downwards? 
 
Ms McKell:  They can change direction due to changes in wind gradients, temperature 

gradients, any obstacle in the path. 
 
Assessor:  Atmospheric conditions are quite important in establishing where the illuminated 

zone is? 
 
Ms McKell:  Yes, they can be.  At distances very close to the source the atmospheric conditions 

will not have such an impact, but as you move further away from the source then the 
winds or temperature gradients can have an effect. 

 
Assessor:  And has that been made clear to the objectors? 
 
Ms McKell:  I’ve not discussed it with them in that detail. 
 
Assessor:  Well, that is not much detail, that is very clear. 
 
Ms McKell:  No, but I have told them; at the meeting I had with the objectors I have explained to 

them.  One of the objectors that I met did have an engineering background so he was 
quite familiar with it, and I explained to him roughly how the barriers worked which he 
was familiar with and accepted, but we didn’t go into ‘If you were sited 30 metres away, 
40 metres away from the barrier’ what effects the wind could have if it was moving in 
different directions.  That would come in at a more detailed stage. 

 
Assessor:  But you are committed to engaging in that type of discussion at the detailed stage? 
 
Ms McKell:  Residents have been told that, yes. 
 
Assessor:  And that obviously is one of the problems that the objectors have.  If I can put this 

again in lay terms, you are saying ‘Trust me, I’m a developer’ and they are saying ‘I’m 
sorry, I don’t trust you, I would like a better explanation and more comfort’ – and you are 
committing to give a better explanation of what you are about to do? 

 
Ms McKell:  We have taken that up with the objectors, yes.   
 
Assessor:  Sorry? 
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Ms McKell:  The objectors that I have not met with, we have given that assurance. 
 
Assessor:  No, I am asking for a commitment as to what you intend to do in the future. 
 
Mr Wark:  We will fully consult and engage with individual objectors over noise solutions at their 

properties. 
 
Assessor:  Thank you very much, Mr Wark.  In each case? 
 
Mr Wark:  In each case, because we need to get the right solution for that. 
 
Assessor:  This is a point which will help me with other questions, which are short things pretty 

much.  I am in no doubt because a general approach has been taken, and this shows 
that all have been treated fairly and in a systematic manner, nonetheless the impression 
to some readers of the objections might be that the particulars of each case have not 
been taken into account, nor will they be – but they will be? 

 
Mr Wark:  They will be, yes. 
 
Assessor:  I am obliged.  I know that the Committee Convenor has written to the Promoter 

about its approach to drawing up its noise and vibration plans, and this will include the 
location of the monitoring equipment.  I have asked you how the Promoter will identify 
these sites; is my note correct that you will not be going to each one of the objectors to 
identify this, you will be taking a general approach, and this is down simply to the fact 
that there is no need to go to each objector?  Is that correct, to put in the monitoring 
device?  I have taken that partly from Mr Irwin.  Am I correct in that, or are you going 
even further than that, because the Convenor has a particular interest in this and wants 
to know how you are going to set about locating these devices. 

 
Ms McKell:  Location of the devices will be agreed with the local authority, and normally a 

location would be taken to represent a certain group of objectors.  If there is one street 
where there are a few objectors, there would be a location agreed with the local authority 
that it was going to be representative of that actual group. 

 
Assessor:  Yes, but if you are going to do this at arm’s length, would the local authority be 

seeking to be in contact with the individual objectors? 
 
Ms McKell:  In actually siting the monitoring locations for the operational noise? 
 
Assessor:  Yes.  What is the engagement?  I am sorry about this, but I assumed it would be the 

contractor who would do this, and in fact they would be working to the advice given by 
the local authority. 

 
Ms McKell:  No, that is not what I meant at all. 
 
Assessor:  Sorry, it is that picture I have. 
 
Ms McKell:  In siting the monitoring locations we would seek agreement with the local authority.  

Obviously there would be interaction with the residents and the objectors at the design 
stage.  The Promoter would by that time have a good idea of where the monitoring 
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locations would have to go, but before we put out monitoring locations there are issues 
of safety to be considered as well, and we always clear that with the local authority to 
make sure that they are also in agreement with where the monitoring locations are being 
sited. 

 
Assessor:  Thank you.  [Confers]  Sorry for the delay, just one very small point.  Perhaps the 

Clerk could be afforded a copy, Mr Lake, of the correction?  I will get it up on to the 
website as quickly as possible – a minor matter, and we could have dealt with it outside 
the Hearing, but if you would?  I am much obliged to you. 

 
 Could I move on to Amenity?  That has been raised as an issue, but as I read some of 

the evidence it is visual intrusion looking outwards, and privacy and perhaps residential 
amenity looking inwards.  What obviously combines the two is the screening which might 
be put in as mitigation. 

 
 Again at the risk of being repetitive, can the Promoter now give a commitment that it will 

actively engage with the local residents who are objectors - I am thinking particularly 
now of these householders – individually (or perhaps even collectively as I get the point 
about trying to get a consensus from four or five households), on the type, selection, 
replacement and so on of screening?  Is that a commitment which can be given? 

 
Mr Wark:  Could I ask for a moment just to check? 
 
Assessor:  Yes, of course, Mr Wark; I am not trying to force the Promoter into anything which 

will in retrospect be seen to be unreasonable or inappropriate.  What I am trying to get is 
a form of words which will be satisfactory to these objectors and hence to the Bill 
Committee, because I know there is an intention to try to reach a negotiated settlement. I 
am in no doubt about that, but I am trying to seek to facilitate that process. 

 
Mr Wark:  I shall only be a moment. 
 
Assessor:  There is no hurry at all.  [Confers]  Sorry, I am holding you up. 
 
Mr Wark:  It’s okay.  As far as visual amenity is concerned we are committed to developing a 

landscape and habitat management plan, and that will be developed in consultation with 
the local authorities.  We are also quite happy to take on board and engage with 
individuals over screening or visual aspects of the railway adjacent to their property. It is 
subject to the engineering design, that is the first priority, and then we see what we can 
do thereafter. 

 
Assessor:  I don’t think there has been any objection made to the two vehicles for pursuing 

this; I believe you have two documents, do you not, where you are going to pursue these 
matters? 

 
Mr Wark:  Correct, yes. 
 
Assessor:  There is simply the level of engagement.  I know you are going to consult with the 

local authority, but again from the objectors’ point of view they might see that as being at 
arm’s length. 
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Mr Wark:  Yes, and some of the objectors have linked the visual aspects of what they require to 
noise barriers, and we would be liaising with them on all these aspects. 

 
Assessor:  But it is likely to come forward as a package, I understand that. 
 
Mr Wark:  Yes. 
 
Assessor:  A topical question: what approach has been taken by the Promoter to offsetting the 

carbon footprint caused by the construction and operation of the railway, through the 
provision, for instance along the route, of more planting than you might otherwise have 
thought appropriate? 

 
Mr Wark:  That’s a good question! 
 
Assessor:  I can’t take credit for it, Mr Wark – but I am looking forward to the answer. 
 
Mr Wark:  Perhaps Mr Wimble could give you a response? 
 
Assessor:  Perhaps we can borrow Mr Wimble? 
 
Mr Wimble:  I would have to say that has not been a primary consideration in the development 

of the proposals, although obviously there would be a degree of offsetting by planting 
vegetation. I have no doubt it could be calculated.  

 
Assessor:  I would be quite interested in the calculation as well, but I am not for a moment 

suggesting that there need be a huge amount of detail.  But put in jargon-free language, 
would it encourage you to over-do the planting rather than to under-do it? 

 
Mr Wimble:  If there were no constraint in operational terms then it might be possible.  
 
Assessor:  You see the route that is being taken, don’t you? 
 
Mr Wimble:  I see the route that is being taken, yes.  
 
Assessor:  A simple Yes or No: would it encourage you to do rather more than you would 

otherwise have done, or less? 
 
Mr Wark:  We are obviously keen to reduce the carbon footprint of the railway, but if you take 

the overview, the railway itself will reduce the overall carbon footprint by encouraging 
public transport, reducing pollution and all the rest of it.  Just planting more vegetation 
and trees can cause problems; all that vegetation has to be managed and there are 
maintenance issues around that, so I cannot give you a straight ‘Yes’ or ‘No’ answer to 
that one. 

 
Assessor:  Thank you very much.  This is another question perhaps in a similar vein.  The 

visual impact of the railway is a matter of concern to quite a large number of objectors.  
At this stage, what is the Promoter’s policy with regard to the provision of natural 
screening, and specifically how much influence does the argument of “betterment” have 
on considering whether to plant trees or other vegetation close to a person’s property?  
Put another way, it comes through that the Promoter is looking for like-for-like and has 
set its face against what might be construed by “betterment”.  One can well understand 
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how a householder for instance would be looking for what might readily be construed as 
betterment, but at the same time I would like to know where you are standing in that 
general area.  Put again, a few more trees are not going to break the bank. 

 
Mr Wark:  No, that is correct, and if an objector requests as part of the negotiations with us over 

their objection for some additional trees, then we would look at that sympathetically – but 
it would be subject to engineering design and what is reasonably practical and sensible 
at that location. 

 
Assessor:  All the usual provisos. 
 
Mr Wark:  I say again, you can satisfy one person – I have been in situations before where we 

have cut trees down because people wanted a clear view and other neighbours have 
objected, so the overview has to be taken. 

 
Assessor:  I quite understand that, and I am sure your professional advisors will assist.  Thank 

you very much, Mr Wark.  Mr Lake, I would like to thank your Panel very much for taking 
these questions.  That will allow us to get through matters for the next couple of days 
much more swiftly than we would otherwise have done. 

 
Mr Lake:  Thank you very much.  
 
Assessor:  I am obliged to you all, thank you.  We will take a short break of about five minutes, 

please. 
 
[The Hearing adjourned at 11.18 a.m.] 
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